Aalborg Universitet



Experience-based user guide for IDA-ICE

Schaffer, Markus; Bugenings, Laura Annabelle; Andersen, Kamilla Heimar; Melgaard, Simon Pommerencke

Creative Commons License CC BY 4.0

Publication date: 2023

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication from Aalborg University

Citation for published version (APA):

Schaffer, M., Bugenings, L. A., Andersen, K. H., & Melgaard, S. P. (2023). *Experience-based user guide for IDA-ICE*. Department of the Built Environment, Aalborg University. DCE Lecture notes No. 83

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal -

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us at vbn@aub.aau.dk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Experience-based user guide for IDA-ICE

Markus Schaffer Laura Annabelle Bugenings Kamilla Heimar Andersen Simon Pommerencke Melgaard Aalborg University Department of the Built Environment Division of Sustainability, Energy & Indoor Environment

DCE Lecture Notes No. 83

Experience-based user guide for IDA ICE

by

Markus Schaffer Laura Annabelle Bugenings Kamilla Heimar Andersen Simon Pommerencke Melgaard April 2023

© Aalborg University

Scientific Publications at the Department of Civil Engineering

Technical Reports are published for timely dissemination of research results and scientific work carried out at the Department of Civil Engineering (DCE) at Aalborg University. This medium allows publication of more detailed explanations and results than typically allowed in scientific journals.

Technical Memoranda are produced to enable the preliminary dissemination of scientific work by the personnel of the DCE where such release is deemed to be appropriate. Documents of this kind may be incomplete or temporary versions of papers—or part of continuing work. This should be kept in mind when references are given to publications of this kind.

Contract Reports are produced to report scientific work carried out under contract. Publications of this kind contain confidential matter and are reserved for the sponsors and the DCE. Therefore, Contract Reports are generally not available for public circulation.

Lecture Notes contain material produced by the lecturers at the DCE for educational purposes. This may be scientific notes, lecture books, example problems or manuals for laboratory work, or computer programs developed at the DCE.

Theses are monograms or collections of papers published to report the scientific work carried out at the DCE to obtain a degree as either PhD or Doctor of Technology. The thesis is publicly available after the defence of the degree. Since 2015, Aalborg University Press has published all Ph.D. dissertations in faculty series under the respective faculty. The AAU Ph.D.-portal will host the E-books, where you also find references to all PhDs dissertations published from Aalborg University.

Latest News is published to enable rapid communication of information about scientific work carried out at the DCE. This includes the status of research projects, developments in the laboratories, information about collaborative work and recent research results.

Published 2023 by Aalborg University Department of the Built Environment Thomas Manns Vej 23 DK-9220 Aalborg Ø, Denmark

Printed in Aalborg at Aalborg University

DCE Lecture Notes No. 83

Introduction

The number of nowadays available BPS software outnumbers 100 by far (Best Directory, n.d.; Crawley et al., 2008), and each has different capabilities, foci, and requires different user knowledge to deploy different functions.

Developed in the framework of the IDA project, IDA ICE was released in 1998 with a focus on indoor climate and energy (ICE). The program is based on equation-based modelling and uses a variable timestep differential-algebraic (DAE) solver. To use the power of DAEsbased (differential-algebraic system of equations) modelling, the neutral model format (NMF) language was developed and applied to the first public domain library of IDA ICE (Sahlin et al., 2004).

Based on the nodal method, IDA ICE treats each zone as a homogeneous volume where quantities such as temperature, pressure, and concentration represent the whole zone. The zones (also nodes) represent, for example, a room, a building component, or a heat and contamination load. For each of these nodes, the physical phenomena are solved individually (Foucquier et al., 2013; Hilliaho, 2017).

IDA ICE provides different user interfaces: the wizard for less experienced users, the standard where users use the graphical interface, and the advanced for the users who want to interact with the mathematical model (Sahlin et al., 2004)

This lecture note aims to give insight into some of the not so straightforward to find functionalities of IDA ICE, to summarise the theoretical background of important components and give examples for good practice. The IDA ICE version used throughout this lecture notes is 4.8 SP2 with an expert license.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	7
Contents	8
OTHER RESOURCES	9
TUTORIALS AND WEBINARS	9
VALIDATION REPORTS	9
GENERAL TIPS FOR WORKING WITH IDA ICE	10
IDA ICE RESOURCES	10
GEOMETRY	10
MULTIPLE INSTANCES OF IDA ICE AND MULTIPLE PARALLELS	10
WORKING WITH CLIMATE DATA	11
USER-DEFINED PARAMETERS AND SCHEDULES	12
LOGGING USER-DEFINED PARAMETERS	12
CREATING VARIABLE SCHEDULES	12
BIM - IMPORT	14
EXAMPLE WORKFLOW – FROM REVIT TO IDA ICE	14
PARAMETRIC MODELLING	17
EXTENDED POSSIBILITIES	17
SAMPLING	18
POST-PROCESSING	18
GRAPHICAL SCRIPTING	20
THEORETICAL BACKGROUND OF MODEL OBJECTS CLIMATE CONDITIONS ZONE MODELS ENVELOPE MODELS AIRFLOW COMPONENT MODELS RADIATION MODELLING CONVECTIVE HEAT TRANSFER COEFFICIENTS EXTERNAL CONVECTIVE HEAT TRANSFER COEFFICIENT INTERNAL CONVECTIVE HEAT TRANSFER COEFFICIENTS	22 22 23 24 25 25 26 26
BIBLIOGRAPHY	32

Other resources

Besides the built-in help, which can be accessed directly from IDA ICE and the exhaustive forum, several other valuable resources for IDA ICE exist. In the following, a non-exhaustive overview is given.

Bring et al., 1999Bring et al., 1999 describe some of the fundamental simulation components used till today in IDA ICE. Sahlin et al., 2004Sahlin et al., 2004 outline an early version of IDA ICE.

Tutorials and Webinars

Please note that the authors take no responsibility if the link source changes and is no longer available.

English tutorials

IDA ICE Tutorial Part 1: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t9B8pPSN-pM</u>

IDA ICE Tutorial Part 2: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zY0xG71sTLo

IDA ICE Tutorial Part 3: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WeXzxoXr_s0</u>

IDA ICE Tutorial Part 4: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gavGMnaL8gk&t=41s

Swedish tutorials

IDA ICE Guide: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p-qr1tao-UQ</u>

Documentation provided by EQUA

http://www.equaonline.com/iceuser/new_documentation.html

EQUA webinars

Parametric modelling and graphical scripts (first 20 minutes of video): <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Qs6tGDpY44k</u>

Webinars: https://www.youtube.com/user/EQUAsimulation/videos

Validation reports

http://www.equaonline.com/iceuser/new_validationreports.html

General tips for working with IDA ICE

IDA ICE resources

One can define so-called project resources in IDA ICE. They function as a template for various objects. The best way to create a resource differs slightly depending on the object. For all objects but zones, the best way is to create one instance with the desired properties, then go to the "outline" tab, right-click on the object, and select "new resource". For zones, one has to right-click on an existing zone template (In "outline" under IDA resources) and select "New Resource". The main benefit of these templates is that one can easily create multiple objects with the same properties. Also, if not manually changed, all instances will update automatically if the template is changed. This is very useful for the parametric variation of multiple objects simultaneously, as described in the Section Parametric modelling.

Geometry

When modelling multi-floor buildings, it is important to ensure that the ceiling/floor is located appropriately. Furthermore, it is essential to check that the "Envelope area definition" is set correctly in the Thermal bridges' menu on the General tab before starting to model. Commonly the option "Overall internal" is used.

Multiple instances of IDA ICE and multiple parallels

Apart from running multiple simulations at the same time, it is possible to run multiple instances of IDA ICE at the same time. Assuming IDA ICE is installed in "C:\Program Files (x86)", the steps to achieve this are as follows:

- Copy the IDA ICE icon to the desktop.
- Right-click on the icon \rightarrow properties
- Change the TARGET from
 - "C:\Program Files (x86)\IDA\bin\ice.exe" to
 - o "C:\Program Files (x86)\IDA\bin\ice.exe" -C XX -L "label"
 - "XX" can be any kind of number.
 - *"Label"* can be any kind of string, e.g., "Instance 1" so one is able to keep track of the simulations.

One can now run multiple instances of IDA ICE. Furthermore, it is possible to run each parametric run in each instance. Therefore, it is first necessary to set the number of cores for parallel computations accordingly. For example, if one has 12 cores and wants to run four independent instances, one can run three parametric simulations simultaneously for each instance. When changing the number of cores for parallel computations, it is advisable to do so in the "original" instance, as changing it in the sub-instances is sometimes ignored.

This workflow can be advantageous for running parametric simulations for multiple independent models. Each model takes longer to simulate, but the process requires less intervention. As for parametric simulations in general, it is essential to consider that the

number of available CPU cores and the available RAM can be the limiting factor for parallel computations. Furthermore, depending on the number of logged outputs, the hard drive capacity is a factor that should be considered.

Working with climate data

This section briefly shows the visualisation of the climate data imported into the model. Weather data can be visualised on the "General" tab of the building overview (Figure 1).

Figure 1 Steps to visualise climate data.

To visualise a single quantity, one needs to double-click the legend text of the quantity (Figure 2).



Figure 2 Steps to visualise a specific quantity of the climate data.

The "Time slice" option (Figure 3) can be used to visualise a specific period.

Tools	Options	Window	Help	
¥ 🗈	Lan	guage	>	1
	Tim	e slice		din a 1
	Pret	erences	or pla	

Figure 3 Time slice option usable to control the timespan of the displayed quantity.

User-defined parameters and schedules

Logging user-defined parameters

To log any parameter, one needs to open either the supervisory control (on the building "General" tab) or the zone controller (within a zone on the "Advanced Tab") (Figure 4)

Г	Supervisory control	1	
	SuperCtrlMacro	Zone controller	ZoneCtrlMacro
L		[Optional central control	oller for all zone devices, such as blinds, heaters, VAV etc.]

Figure 4 Examples of a supervisory conrol on the building level and a zone control

To log into a non-existent output file, "OUTPUT-FILE" from the Utility tab (Figure 5) must be added.



Figure 5 Output file icon for graphical modelling

The desired parameters are selected with "LinkRef", and then this value must be multiplied by the value 1 because otherwise, the parameters are not logged (Figure 6).



Figure 6 Example of a via LinkRef linked parameter. To be logged, this parameter must be multiplied by 1.

The output of the multiplier (OUTSIGNAL) can be logged to the Output-file created or one of the existing Output-files (Figure 7). From the supervisory control, logging into zone-related Output-files is impossible.

OUTSIGNAL	0.0	OUTPUT-FILE	Output signal
INSIGNAL[1:2]	{0.0 0.0}	[off]	Input signals
TEMP[1:2]	{0.0 0.0}	[off]	Temporary vector (to avoid rep

Figure 7 Example of a multiplier were the output is logged to 'OUTPUT-FILE'

Creating variable schedules

Creating variable schedules can be advantageous when occupants or equipment should react to varying boundary conditions such as the indoor temperature. In the following example (Figure 8), the four occupants shall leave the zone gradually if the temperature

surpasses 25 °C. At 27°C, the zone should be empty, and people start returning when the temperature falls below 27 °C. One first creates a "Zone controller" for the desired zone to facilitate this. The next step is to create the needed condition with the graphical components. For this example, the linear segment controller is used. Below 25 °C, all occupants are in the zone (y coordinate is 1), and above 27 °C, no occupants are in the zone. Between 25 °C and 27 °C, occupants leave or return linearly.



Figure 8 Steps to create a variable schedule.

Plotting a graph with the operative temperature and the occupancy (Figure 9) confirms that the schedule works as intended. When creating the schedule within the zone, it will be only available in this particular zone. To make a schedule available to all zones, it must be created within the supervisory control.





BIM - Import

Integrating IDA ICE into the process of building information modelling is possible. Therefore, a BIM model is needed, which was created, for example, with *ArchiCAD* or *Revit*. Some BIM-generating tools provide plug-ins or already integrated programs for early-stage design modelling, such as *Insight 360* in *Revit*. The plug-ins are usually limited but do not require as much information as IDA ICE. The BIM geometry and some additional information can be exported for detailed design modelling. Common formats are IFC or GBXML, whereby IDA ICE uses IFC. The export files contain information such as zones, surfaces, constructions, fenestration, and the buildings' surroundings. Sometimes geometries are too complex models to be imported without significant process between the BIM program and the simulation program. One example is *SimpleBIM* (license needed). For simple models, files can be imported directly into the IDA ICE. The process within the program is described in the next paragraph. Exporting the results to Excel or conducting post-processing within IDA ICE is possible. Result visualisation within Revit is not possible. *SimpleBIM* offers the possibility to visualise the results attached to the model geometry.



Figure 10 Workflow BIM to BPS adapted from (Kamel, Memari 2019)

Example workflow – from Revit to IDA ICE

Process in Revit

- Define project north and true north
- Set project to project north
- It is advantageous if the global origin of the model is close to the building (otherwise, the building might be a bit hard to find in IDA ICE)
- Define rooms/spaces of areas you want to simulate
- Check that all room-adjacent constructions (incl. thickness of layers) are defined

- Check that the function of all external constructions is set to 'exterior'
- Check that the function of all internal construction is set to 'interior'
- Thermal properties of materials are not exported
- U-values of the element are exported
 - IDA ICE can/will not use this information
- Export IFC file
 - Supported formats: IFC 2x, IFC 2x2 and IFC 2x3 (IFC2x3 Coordination View Version 2.0)

Process in IDA ICE

Before importing the IFC file

- Create new project
 - o save this file locally on your computer
 - o saving in the cloud can corrupt the file
- Make all settings on "General tab" building-related parameters
 - Location/Climate/windprofile
 - o Thermal bridges/Infiltration/pressure coefficients
 - Optional: holidays, extra energy and losses, ground properties
 - Check if system parameters match your assumptions
 - \circ Defaults → set generator efficiencies (if you are interested in energy consumption)
 - Make settings for the air handling unit and plant
- Create all materials you will need for the simulation
 - General tab → Details → Materials right-click on one of the materials → new resource
- Adjust material properties of the new material
- Create zone templates for zones that occur more than once ("Floor plan" tab → ordinary zone → show/edit template → save as new template)
 - Here you need to define the internal heat load and schedules
- Edit preferences for IFC import \rightarrow options \rightarrow preferences \rightarrow IFC Import
 - \circ If you have many windows next to each other --> check "merge windows"
 - Others keep unchecked
- save this file as a template (backup)

Importing the IFC file

• On 'Floor plan' tab

- Import → IFC (3D BIM) → select file
- If there are more buildings inside the IFC file →select the relevant one
- On '3D' tab
 - o Check if your model was imported correctly
- On 'Floor plan' tab
 - \circ 'Level' → enter the height of the selected floor
 - IFC' → Mapping → Category 'Material' → map IFC data with created materials in IDA ICE (select material pair and click 'Map to selected')
 - $\circ~$ Category 'Constructions' \rightarrow Select relevant constructions \rightarrow click 'Import from IFC'
 - Construction appears on the right if all materials were assigned
 - Category 'windows' \rightarrow map windows with the IDA ICE resources
 - Category 'spaces' \rightarrow map spaces with IDA-resources

Importing shading for use with the daylight module

When importing shading objects for use in the daylight module, one must split all elements that do not have the same properties into different files, examples are floors, walls, ceilings, window frames, etc.

Parametric modelling

Parametric modelling is highly useful for studying various cases, the influence of different parameters (Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis), or finding an optimal design. It is accessed from IDA ICE under "Tools" and the "Parametric runs".

In principle, any parameter can be varied, either by selecting it from the parametric run window (using the [+] button) (Figure 11) or by right-clicking on the parameter and selecting "Add to *name of parametric run*".

ParmRu	n_1: object in	building1															• X
General	Results C	Dutline															
Name	Parm	Run_1			Des	cription											
Input	Simi Kee Clea	ulation type p generated m ar results from p	odels previou:	Energy No s runs Yes	>			2	ni Shippini In chuter	Tool is	ftio king					+ V /	×
Name		Value	Unit	OK range	Distribution	Resolution		Target	with Smith 1		Description	1					
Output																+ V /	×
Name		Target			Function		Role	Min	Max	Desc	ription						
clean >														Nur	optimization	Run all	
<u>stearre</u>												Run Mon	nte-Carlo	100 \$	simulations	Sensitivity an	alysis

Figure 11 Parametric simulation window

Extended possibilities

The described basic capabilities can be easily extended. Firstly, by using IDA resources/templates (as described in the Section IDA ICE resources). If a template parameter is varied, the instances will use this updated parameter (unless the link was manually broken). Thus, this allows the variation of one parameter of multiple instances at once, e.g., the glazing of all windows.

Secondly, a graphical script (Section Graphical scripting) can be used to manipulate, e.g., the geometry of a model parametrically.

Thirdly one can define custom parameters. For this, a custom parameter must be first added in the parametric run window ([+] button)(Figure 11), then the possible values can be defined (see also the Section Sampling below). In the third step, the target is defined using the IDA code. An example where the thickness of the insulation layer in two wall types is varied simultaneously looks like this:

```
(:UPDATE [0]
((WALLDEF :N "External_wall") ((WALL-LAYER :N "Insulation") (:PAR :N THICKNESS :V _VALUE)))
((WALLDEF :N "External wall 1") ((WALL-LAYER :N "Insulation")(:PAR :N THICKNESS :V VALUE))))
```

WALLDEF defines that it is a wall definition (construction); the following string defines the name of the construction, in this example, "External_wall" and "External_wall1". *Wall-Layer* then defines that a construction layer is selected; again, the following string defines the layer name. After that, *Par* defined the parameter specified by the following string "Thickness" before _*VALUE* refers to the value (input) of the parametric run.

The fourth option is to define a parameter that depends on another parameter. This option is illustrated based on the following example: the window glazing should be selected based on the climate file. The following five steps are necessary to do this:

- 1. Right-click on the climate selection and add it to the parametric run.
- 2. Select the climates to be varied, for this case: Aalborg, Berlin, and Wien.
- 3. Add the glazing of a window/a window template etc.
- 4. Now press "alt" and left-click on the glazing range
- 5. Now write the following code:

```
(:EVAL (:COND ((== ["CLIMATE"] "DNK_AALBORG)") (:RETURN ("Triple A1")))
        ((== ["CLIMATE"] "DEU_BERLIN)") (:RETURN ("Triple C1")))
        ((== ["CLIMATE"] "AUT_WIEN-SCHWECHAT") (:RETURN ("Triple D1")))))
```

Here "CLIMATE" refers to the name of the parameter, the following string is the name of the climate file (e.g., "DNK_AALBORG"), and the last string is the value, which is returned, so in this case, the name of the glazing (e.g., "Triple A1). This can be applied to any parameters and combined with a graphical script.

Sampling

Sampling can be defined as discrete or continuous for numeric parameters, with continuous being either uniform or triangular. A discrete sampling is defined by writing the desired values in round parentheses, e.g., (0.1 0.2 0.3) in the "OK range" column. For continuous uniform or triangular distribution sampling, the upper and lower limits are written in brackets, e.g., [0 1], and the desired distribution and number of samples (resolution) are selected. Of course, one can also mimic different (more complex) distributions by sampling them beforehand and defining a discrete distribution. This also allows making sampling reproducible across different parametric runs

Post-processing

Parametric runs can quickly generate hundreds or thousands of different simulations. Thus, post-processing becomes an important task. In the following one, good practices for data processing are outlined.

Often more than the default information is needed, which makes external post-processing of the simulation results necessary. Thus, it is required to access all in the parametric run generated file and results. All generated models can be kept by setting the corresponding option in the parametric run window to "YES" **BEFORE** executing the parametric run. It is to be noted that this can, depending on the selected outputs and length of the simulation period, generate hundreds of gigabytes of files. Thus, it is recommended that only the needed outputs are logged. After the parametric run is completed, one must NOT save the

original file (from which the parametric simulation is started), as this deletes all results in the model files from the parametric run. One can now open one model from the results tap by double-clicking on it. Now the model's path can be looked up ("Save as" opens a Windows Explorer window with the current path of the Model). One can change the folder where the parametric run models are saved in IDA ICE "Options" \rightarrow "Advanced" under the temporary folder path. Knowing the folder's location that contains all parametric models, the entire folder with all models and results generated during the parametric run can now be copied to a new location. Now one can save the original IDA ICE model again. The parametric models are saved as unpacked IDA ICE files named "run10001", "run10002", and so on. Now all results can be processed. All outputs are stored as .prn files, and tab-delimited text files. It is to be noted that IDA ICE uses not a fixed timestep for the simulation but a dynamic one. Thus, the results are not equidistant, and the precise timestamps can vary between the different models of the parametric run. Additionally, IDA ICE can save multiple results with the same timestamp, which needs to be considered particularly for control signals. A good practice is moving results with identical timestamps apart by a small amount, e.g., a small fraction of a second.

Graphical scripting

Graphical scripting can be used to change model parameters, which affect the build model, parametrically. Typical examples are material properties, the thickness of construction layers, or geometry manipulations.

For example, to manipulate the orientation of the building, the following steps are necessary:

- 1. Create an empty graphical script (gear symbol on yellow background)
- 2. Open the site properties and right-click on the orientation, then select mapping and the before-created graphical script and insert script output by left clicking
- 3. Add a local parameter in the graphical script and connect it to the script output

Now, this local parameter controls the orientation of the site.

Following same principle, other parameters such as material thicknesses of constructions can be changed either directly or depending on other values.

Changing the geometry of a zone is more complex but can be accomplished as follows:

- 1. Create an empty graphical script (gear symbol on yellow background)
- 2. Now set up a local parameter and an output parameter for each direction that should be changed, e.g. width, height etc.
- 3. Now right-click on every output parameter and name it: e.g., "Depth"
- 4. Now open the Outline of the Zone for the geometry should be modified
- 5. Select the Corners (Geometry \rightarrow Corners)
- 6. Right-click on the corners and select "Mapping" \rightarrow Edit link
- 7. Now select Advanced and write the following in the dialogue (Figure 12):

```
(:CALL MAKE-ARRAY '(4 2) ':INITIAL-CONTENTS ((0.0 0.5) (8.0 0.5) (8.0 ["Geometry" "Depth" X]) (0.0 ["Geometry" "Depth" X])))
```

Mapping mode	Map to parameter	Advanc	ed <u>N</u> e	W
) No mapping) Default	S Code dialog		- 0	;
Map to a parameter of 0: Geometry 1: DSF 2: New system_ew <zone>: DSF <macro>: DSF <building>: New sy <system>: New system </system></building></macro></zone>	(:CALL MAKE-ARRAY '(4 2) ':INITIA (8.0 0.5) (8.0 ["Geometry" "Depth "Depth" X])))	L-CONTENTS (" X]) (0.0 [(0.0 0.5) "Geometry	7"
The editing of the paran	QK <u>C</u> ancel		Qk	

Figure 12 Example of Advanced parameter mapping to change the geometry of a zone.

Thereby an array is generated, which replaces the original array. INITIAL-CONTENTS refers to the original coordinates, which are then replaced with the new ones. In this example, the 0.5, which refers to the y-coordinate, is replaced with the values from the graphical script. "Geometry" refers to the name of the graphical script, and "Depth" is the name of the output parameter. One can also change the x-coordinate in the same manner.

It is important to consider that the building body does not change automatically if one changes the zone geometry. Thus, most likely, the building body must be adapted in the same manner. Usually, this works best by using the same local input and subtracting/adding a constant so that the output fits the building body, as shown in Figure 13.



Figure 13 Example of graphical script to change the zone depth and adept the building body accordingly.

Theoretical background of model objects

This chapter provides an overview of the theoretical aspects of some of the most used components. Further, it provides an overview of the available internal heat convection coefficient algorithms as they are frequently reported incorrect or incomplete in literature, e.g., Catto Lucchino et al., 2019 and Krusaa & Hviid, 2021

Climate conditions

Solar radiation

The diffuse solar irradiation on each surface is calculated in IDA ICE in the component (FACE), which uses, per default, the method by Perez et al., 1990, whereby also methods based on ASHRAE (Fundamentals 1997) and Kondratjev can be selected by the user (Bring et al., 1999). Based on the results of Loutzenhiser et al., 2007 where it was shown for IDA ICE that the method base on Perez et al., 1990 leads to the best agreement for diffuse solar irradiation on a southwest facade, this model was also chosen for this work. For the direct solar irradiation allocation to each surface, the solar position is calculated based on ASHRAE Fundamentals 1997 (Bring et al., 1999).

Wind velocity

The velocity at the roof height of the building is calculated in CLIMATE based on the wind velocity given in the climate file based on the following general expression based on ASHRAE Fundamentals 1997 (Bring et al., 1999).

$$v = a0_{coeff} \cdot v_{ref} \cdot \frac{h^{a_{exp}}}{h_{ref}}$$
[1]

Where v is the wind velocity at building height [m/s], v_{ref} is the wind velocity at reference height, [m/s], h is the height of the building, [m], h_{ref} is the reference height, [m], $a0_{coeff}$ is the wind profile coefficient, [-], a_{exp} is the wind profile exponent, [-].

Sky temperature

The sky temperature can be calculated based on two methods in the CLIMATE component. The first is a static relation, whereas the sky temperature is defined as 5°C below the air temperature. This model is used per default only if no sky cover is provided in the weather file but can also be directly selected by the user. If cloud cover is provided per default, the model based on Walton, 1983 and Clark & Allen, 1978 ("Walton-Clark-Allen model") is used.

Zone models

There are currently two-zone models implemented into IDA ICE, the simpler energy model (CESIMZON) and the more detailed climate model (CEDETZON). The main difference between these two models is that in the energy model, longwave radiation is modelled based on the mean radiant temperature and is distributed based on surface areas. Shortwave radiation is also distributed according to the surface area but weighted with their respective absorption factor. Further, this model simplifies all internal (adiabatic) constructions and thermal masses (furniture) into one active heat capacity. The CHTCs are only calculated for external constructions, windows and heated/cooled surfaces. For internal constructions, the CHTC is a user input parameter. (Bring et al., 1999)

In contrast, the detailed model (CEDETZON) uses a view factor calculation based on a routine by Li Yuguo 1992 (Bring et al., 1999) to distribute irradiation. However, this introduces the limitation that this model can only be applied to a rectangular room geometry, that all surfaces have to see each other and that obstacles within the room are ignored. The emitted and reflected irradiation within the zone is distributed using the net radiation method according to these view factors. It is to be noted that longwave irradiation originating from occupants and equipment is treated in the same manner for both zones. The position is not taken into account, and the distribution of longwave radiation before the first reflection is proportional to the surface area of the enclosing

Envelope models

Window models

Windows can be modelled in two ways: a simplified model (CEWIND) and a detailed model (DETWIND) based on ISO 15099:2003. In the following, only the detailed model is described. This model uses a pane-by-pane model, which calculates all thermal and optical properties of the window based on the individual panes and gas fillings in the cavities. Thereby also, angle-dependent optical properties of the window are calculated considering multiple reflections and the solar abortion of each pane. Further, even the glass panes' heat capacity is considered. As ISO 15099:2003 does not cover the angular dependent properties of single-pane windows (coated as well as uncoated), these are calculated based on ASHRAE Fundamentals 1997 ("Fresnel equation") (Hilliaho, 2017). Further, if all used glass panes and the sunshades have defined spectral data, optical properties are calculated for each wavelength, which are then integrated into averages according to EN 410 (EQUA Simulation AB, 2018). Shading from buildings or fixed fins is calculated in the WINSHADE object while shadings associated with the window, such as venetian blinds, are calculated in the window model.

Wall models

Four wall models are available: RCWall, fdwall, BDFWaldwall and Adwall. RCWall uses an RC network model to calculate the behaviour of the wall. Thereby, the material layers are reduced to three (sometimes two) nodes by optimising parameters such as heat capacity at different nodes, the resistance between nodes and resistance on the sides. The advantage is that this model decreases its calculation time, and the accuracy is known, whereas the disadvantage is that it lacks physically meaningful temperatures inside the wall. Adwall is based on the RCWall and is used for adiabatic internal walls where heat transfer can be neglected (Bring et al., 1999).

fdwall and BDFWall are finite difference models of a multi-layer component. Each material layer is thereby discretised into n number of layers, and following a chain of serially connected heat capacities and thermal resistances is calculated. The difference is that BDFWall uses a FORTRAN subroutine for numeric integration using the implicit Backward Euler-Method or a Midpoint-Method, which both have high numerical stability. By default, the Backward Euler-Method is used by IDA ICE. The default wall model is BDFWall for walls with heat transfer and Adwall for walls without.

Airflow component models

IDA ICE has a fully integrated airflow network model. The components between two zones or one zone and the environment can be horizontal and vertical openings, leaks and supply and exhaust air terminals (Bring et al., 1999; Hilliaho, 2017). These components are seen as airflow paths and connect different control volumes as an idealised collection (Axley, 2001). IDA ICE thereby calculates the airflow based on pressure differences between the connected zones or the zone and the environment. For the pressure differences, temperature differences and wind are taken into account.

Large openings

Large vertical openings are, for example, interior or exterior doors, openings without doors and windows that can be opened. They can be placed on external walls facing outdoors and in-between two zones. Large horizontal zones can be placed in ceilings connecting zones but also into roofs. For all openings and windows, the C_d (default is 0.65) value can be determined.

Large vertical openings

The model used to calculate a bidirectional airflow between two zones (CelVO) is based on the Bernoulli equation, where the orifice equation is the governing equation (Hayati et al., 2016).

In the model CeIVO, two different flow profiles are considered:

- a slanted profile in case the density is different between the zones
- a flat profile in case the density is the same

For slanted profiles, the mass flow depends on the level where the pressures are equal (neutral level). With the pressure difference at the top and the bottom, which are individually calculated, the mass flows in each direction through the opening can be calculated dependent on the profile shape. Finally, the net mass flow, the net heat flux, the net amount of fraction transport and the moisture transport are calculated. Detailed equations are given in Bring et al., 1999 under Large Vertical Openings. The equations of this publication are based on van der Maas, 1992.

Large horizontal openings

The bidirectional flow through a large horizontal rectangular opening (CelHO) is modelled based on the density as well as the pressure difference above and below the opening. After both differences are calculated, the mass flow due to pressure differences is calculated. With the density differences, the volume flow is determined. Lastly, both flows are used to calculate the total mass flow, the convected heat, the convected contaminant fraction and convected moisture fraction.

Leakage components

In IDA ICE, different models are used to calculate infiltration, CeLeak for bidirectional infiltration between zones and environment and between two zones. For one-directional infiltration, MLeak is used. The infiltration between zones and the environment can be defined as general infiltration for the whole building but also for each zone individually. Between two zones, individual leakages are defined at each surface which is supposed to have a leakage. Thereby it can be chosen between a "pressure-driven flow" (CeLeak), which

is defined by the leak area at 4 Pa ($C_d=1$) or power-law coefficient, or a "given (pressure independent)(MLeak) flow", which is defined by a one-directional flow (I/s) and a schedule.

The mass flow is determined by pressure difference dependent, independent of the position - between zone and environment or between two zones. For both leak components, energy transfer, containment fraction, and moisture are calculated as well.

The aforementioned equivalent leakage area is the total area of all cracks in a structure and is calculated according to Charlesworth, 1988 Charlesworth, 1988 "as the area of a sharp edge orifice which would pass the same volume flow as the building at given pressure difference". It can be calculated using Equation [2].

$$EqLa = \frac{Q}{C_d \left[\frac{2\Delta P}{\rho}\right]^{0.5}}$$
 (Charlesworth, 1988) [2]

Where EqLa is the equivalent leakage area, $[m^2]$, Q is the volume flow rate, $[m^3s^{-1}]$, C_d is the discharge coefficient, [-], ρ is the density of air, [kg m³] and ΔP is the pressure difference at 4 Pa, [Pa].

Radiation modelling

One shading calculation model (WINSHADE) exists for each object, such as a window. In this model, the shading from external objects (building, external shading) for the respective surface/object is generated for both direct and diffuse solar radiation. Thereby diffuse radiation from the sky is shaded, but the reflection from the ground is always considered to be not shaded by any external object (EQUA Simulation AB, 2018).

As solar radiation reaches the inside of a zone/room, its diffuse part is spread diffusely, whereas the direct part hits an exact location. Therefore, the whole window or opening is considered as a source and not just the part which is the actual source. The intensity is adjusted accordingly. After its first reflection from an opaque surface, direct radiation is also diffusely spread. Thereby, in the same manner, as for windows or openings, the whole surface is treated as the source. This modelling is for both internal as well as external components (EQUA Simulation AB, 2018).

Convective heat transfer coefficients

In general, convection only occurs in gases or liquids where heat is transported through flow. Thereby it is differentiated between natural and forced convection, where natural convection is the flow caused by buoyancy at constant pressure, and forced convection is the flow caused by the pressure difference (e.g. wind pressure). Natural convection can be laminar but also turbulent, whereas forced convection is mostly turbulent. The heat transfer at surfaces by convection is influenced by the following parameter: (Zürcher & Frank, 2018)

- 1. temperature difference between surface and air
- 2. velocity of the air
- 3. flow regime: laminar or turbulent
- 4. direction of the heat flow: horizontal, vertical up- or downwards

- 5. surface roughness
- 6. geometry and size of the object

In building energy modelling, various models were developed to reflect the processes of convection. Thereby, it is differentiated between external (e.g. outer surface of exterior wall) and internal (internal surfaces, e.g. internal walls) convection.

In IDA ICE, the external convective heat transfer coefficient is calculated in the FACE model, while the internal is calculated in the external FORTRAN subroutines U_Film .

External convective heat transfer coefficient

For the external convective heat transfer coefficients, no options are given. It is calculated based on Equation [3]:

$$h_c = 5.678 \left[a + b \left(\frac{V}{0.3048} \right)^n \right]$$
 (Clarke, 2001; Sahlin et al., 2004) [3]

Where V is the local wind velocity at the leeward side:

$$V = 0.3 + 0.05 \times V_f$$
 (Clarke, 2001; Sahlin et al., 2004) [4]

Where V_f is the free stream velocity in m/s.

If the free stream velocity is less than 2 m/s, the local wind velocity on the windward side of the building is 0.5m/s. Otherwise, the free stream velocity is multiplied by 0.25. The empirical coefficients and exponents are set according to Table 1 and are dependent on the velocity of the wind. IDA ICE thereby only uses the empirical coefficients and exponents for the' rough' surface nature.

 Table 1: Empirical coefficients and exponents for Equation [4] (Clarke, 2001) IDA ICE only uses 'rough' as surface nature.

	V _f <4.88 m	/s		$4.88 \text{ m/s} \le V_{f} \le 30.48 \text{ m/s}$		
Nature of surface	а	b	n	а	b	n
smooth	0.99	0.21	1.00	0.00	0.50	0.78
rough	1.09	0.23	1.00	0.00	0.53	0.78

Internal convective heat transfer coefficients

The way the convective heat transfer coefficients (CHTC) are calculated can be determined in the expert version of IDA ICE by setting the ConvType[1] in the zone model. There, it can be chosen between the following options:

- ConvType[1]=-1: Table values (BRIS model)
- ConvType[1]=0: Simple Natural Convection (SNC) model
- ConvType[1]=1: Detailed Natural Convection (DNC) model
- ConvType[1]=2: Ceiling diffuser (CD) model
- ConvType[1]=3: Max(BRIS Model, CD Model) (default)

- ConvType[1]=4: Max(DNC Model, CD Model)
- ConvType[1]=5: User defined values (only in the energy zone model)

The different algorithms are calculated in the external FORTRAN subroutine U_FILM.FOR. In the following subsections, the methods and algorithms to calculate the internal CHTC are presented, which can be chosen. For all models, the temperature difference is calculated as: $T_{air}-T_{srf}$. The surface orientation is: floor = 0°, ceiling = 180° and wall = 90°.

BRIS Model

When the BRIS Model is used, the CHTC is dependent on the temperature difference between the air and the surface and the slope of the surface (horizontal and vertical) (Bring et al., 1999). The CHTCs are shown in Figure 14 and also depend on the in Table 2 shown conditions.

Table 2 Heat transfer coefficients for BRIS with correction for small air flows.

coefficient	condition	position
Figure 14 Vertical ΔT	α-90 <30	wall
Figure 14 Horizontal with - ΔT	α <90	floor
Figure 14 Horizontal with ΔT	otherwise ceiling	ceiling





Simple Natural Convection (SNC) Model

The natural heat transfer coefficients were obtained by Walton, 1983, who based them on data obtained from ASHRAE Fundamentals (1981). They subtracted a radiative component from the ASHRAE table values given for combined convection and radiation and converted them into metric units. This radiative component was 1.02 times the emissivity of 0.9. Table 3 shows the calculated values which are used in IDA ICE and also shows that, for horizontal surfaces, it is differentiated between reduced and enhanced convection. Enhanced convection mostly occurs when warm air is below a cold horizontal surface, or cold is above a warm horizontal surface. For reduced convection, it is the opposite, where it occurs when cold air is below a warm surface, or warm air is above a cold horizontal surface. Both enhanced and reduced convection, so more or less convective mixing is always in relation

to a vertical surface (Walton, 1983). It is to be noted that the values in the publication differ from the values used in IDA ICE in the second or third decimal. The reason for this is unknown.

coefficient	condition
h=0.948	If (Δ T>0 and α <10) or (Δ T<0 and α -180 <10)
	Horizontal surface with reduced convection
h= 4.040	If (ΔT<0 and α <10) or (ΔT>0 and α-180 <10)
	Horizontal surface with enhanced convection
h= 3.076	Else if α-90 <10
	Vertical surface
h= 2.281	Else if (Δ T>0 and α <90) or (Δ T<0 and α >90)
	Tilted surface with reduced convection
h= 3.870	Else if (ΔT <0 and α <90) or (ΔT >0 and α >90)
	Tilted surface with enhanced convection
where ΔT is T_{air}	- T _{srf} and α is the angle relative to the horizontal floor

Table 3: Convective heat transfer coefficients for SNC as used in IDA ICE.

Detailed Natural Convection (DNC) Model

Walton, 1983Walton, 1983 also defined the detailed natural convection coefficients. As the values he originally obtained from ASHRAE Fundamentals (1981) were inconsistent with those from the simple algorithm, he defined expressions that account for all surface tilts, as shown in Table 4.

Table 4 Convective heat transfer coefficients for DNC (Walton, 198	3).
--	-----

coefficient	condition						
9.482 · $ \Delta T ^{\frac{1}{3}}$	If (ΔT <0 and α <90) or (ΔT >0 and α >90)						
$h = \frac{1}{7.283 - \cos(\alpha) }$	Upward and downward facing surface with enhanced convection						
$1.810 \cdot \Delta T ^{\frac{1}{3}}$	Otherwise						
$h = \frac{1.382 + \cos(\alpha) }{1.382 + \cos(\alpha) }$	upward and downward facing surface						
	with reduced convection and vertical surfaces						

where ΔT is T_{air} - T_{srf} and α is the angle relative to the horizontal floor

Ceiling Diffuser (CD) Model

The CHTCs for the CD model were obtained by Fisher & Pedersen, 1997, who determined them in a full-scale experiment between 3 and 12 ACH. Thereby, the resulting correlations were related to the room inlet temperature. The expressions used by IDA ICE were related to the room outlet temperatures obtained in the experiment. Further, IDA ICE uses two

different algorithms to calculate the CHTC. When selecting ConvType[1]=2, the expressions used are given in Table 5. These do not include a correction for small ACH.

 Table 5 Convective heat transfer coefficients for CD without correction for small air flows (Fisher & Pedersen, 1997).

coefficient	condition	position
$h = 3.873 + 0.082 \cdot ACH^{0.980}$	lf α<60	floor
$h = 2.234 + 4.099 \cdot ACH^{0.503}$	Else if α>120	ceiling
$h = 1.208 + 1.012 \cdot ACH^{0.604}$	otherwise	wall

where ACH is the air change per hour, α is the angle relative to the horizontal floor

Table 6 shows the expressions used when selecting ConvType[1]=3 or ConvType[1]=4.

Table 6 Convective heat transfer coefficients for CD with correction for small airflows (From IDA ICE).

coefficient	condition	position
$h = 3.873 \cdot r + 0.082 \cdot ACH^{0.980}$	lf α<60	floor
$h = 2.234 \cdot r + 4.099 \cdot ACH^{0.503}$	Else if α>120	ceiling
$h = 1.208 \cdot r + 1.012 \cdot ACH^{0.604}$	otherwise	wall

where ACH is the air change per hour, α is the angle relative to the horizontal floor and r is the min(5,ACH)/5

Due to the use of two expression groups, it is possible that the results deviate between ConvType[1]=2, and ConvType[1]=3 and ConvType[1]=4 when CD-algorithm is chosen. The deviation can only occur until 5 ACH, as shown in the next subsection.

Comparison of internal convective heat transfer coefficients

Further, all relevant and above listed CHTC are compared for all surface orientations (Figure 15 – Figure 17). Note that the CD algorithm has a different x-axis as it is dependent on the ACH and not the temperature difference.



Figure 15 CHTC at wall (vertical surfaces) as used in IDA ICE



Figure 16 CHTC at floor as used in IDA ICE



Figure 17 CHTC at ceiling as used in IDA ICE

Application – Changing CHTC

- 1. Build the model
- 2. Open the zone
- 3. Open the schematic
- 4. Open the zone model
- 5. Navigate to "Parameters"
- 6. Search and open for ConvType
- 7. Change [1] to desired CHTC
 - a. When choosing [1]=5 (only possible when the zone is set to "Energy", [7] [9] are applied
 - i. ConvType[7] = h for floor
 - ii. ConvType[8] = h for ceiling
 - iii. ConvType[9] = h for wall
- 8. Run the simulation without building the model.

Recommendations

ACHs in IDA ICE are determined based on forced ventilation (mechanical ventilation), natural ventilation, and air exchange between zones. The air exchange between the zones gets exceptionally high for large vertical and horizontal zones. Thus, using a CHTC algorithm that determines its values based on ACH can lead to a too-high heat transfer in those cases (two or more zones connected by large vertical or horizontal openings). On the opposite side, algorithms based on ACH cannot capture, for example, recirculating (in one zone) flows, as no ACH is present. This can lead to large, unexpected deviations as a CHTC of 0 W/m² leads to no convective heat transfer between the surface and the room.

Bibliography

- Axley, J. W. (2001). Residential Passive Ventilation Systems: Evaluation and Design (IEA Energy Conservation in Buildings and Community Systems Programme (ECBCS), Issue 54). https://www.aivc.org/sites/default/files/members_area/medias/pdf/Technotes/TN54 RESIDENTIAL PASSIVE VENTILATION.pdf
- Best Directory. (n.d.). *Building Energy Software Tools (BEST) Directory*. https://www.buildingenergysoftwaretools.com/
- Bring, A., Sahlin, P., & Vuolle, M. (1999). *Models for Building Indoor Climate and Energy Simulation - A Report of Task 22 Building Energy Analysis Tools* (Issue 1.02).
- Catto Lucchino, E., Goia, F., Lobaccaro, G., & Chaudhary, G. (2019). Modelling of double skin facades in whole-building energy simulation tools: A review of current practices and possibilities for future developments. *Building Simulation*, *12*(1), 3–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12273-019-0511-y
- Charlesworth, P. S. (1988). Air Exchange Rate and Airtightness Measurement Techniques An Application Guide.
- Clark, G., & Allen, C. (1978). The Estimation of Atmospheric Radiation for Clear and Cloudy Skies. *2nd National Passive Solar Conference (AS/ISES)*, 675–678.
- Clarke, J. (2001). *Energy Simulation in Building Design* (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080505640
- Crawley, D. B., Hand, J. W., Kummert, M., & Griffith, B. T. (2008). Contrasting the capabilities of building energy performance simulation programs. *Building and Environment*, *43*(4), 661–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.10.027
- EQUA Simulation AB. (2018). User Manual IDA Indoor Climate and Energy. EQUA Simulation AB.
- Fisher, D. E., & Pedersen, C. O. (1997). Convective Heat Transfer for Building Energy and Thermal Load Calculations. *ASHRAE Transactions*, *103*(2), 137–148.
- Foucquier, A., Robert, S., Suard, F., Stéphan, L., & Jay, A. (2013). State of the art in building modelling and energy performances prediction: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 23, 272–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.03.004
- Hayati, A., Mattsson, M., & Sandberg, M. (2016). A Study on Airing Through the Porches of a Historical Church – Measurements and IDA-ICE Modelling. ASHRAE and AIVC IAQ 2016 - Defining Indoor Air Quality: Policy, Standards and Best Practices, 2016, 216– 223.
- Hilliaho, K. (2017). Energy Saving Potential and Interior Temperatures of Glazed Spaces -Evaluation through Measurements and Simulations [PhD]. Tampere University of Technology.
- Krusaa, M. R., & Hviid, C. A. (2021). Combining suspended radiant ceiling with diffuse ventilation – Numerical performance analysis of low-energy office space in a temperate climate. *Journal of Building Engineering*, 38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobe.2021.102161

- Loutzenhiser, P., Manz, H., & Maxwell, G. (2007). *Empirical Validations of Shading/Daylighting/Load Interactions in Building Energy Simulation Tools* (SHC Task 34/ ECBCS Annex 43).
- Perez, R., Ineichen, P., Seals, R., Michalsky, J., & Stewart, R. (1990). Modeling daylight availability and irradiance components from direct and global irradiance. *Solar Energy*, 44(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-092X(90)90055-H
- Sahlin, P., Eriksson, L., Grozman, P., Johnsson, H., Shapovalov, A., & Vuolle, M. (2004).
 Whole-building simulation with symbolic DAE equations and general purpose solvers.
 Building and *Environment*, 39(8), 949–958.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2004.01.019
- van der Maas, J. (1992). Air Flow Through Large Openings in Buildings (Subtask 2): IEA Annex 20 -Air Flow Patterns Within Buildings.
- Walton, G. N. (1983). Thermal Analysis Research Program Reference Manual.
- Zürcher, C., & Frank, T. (2018). *Bauphysik Bau & Energie* (4th ed.). vdf Hochschulverlag AG.